

# WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 770 / JUNE 2007

WELFARE IMPLICATIONS OF CALVO VS. ROTEMBERG PRICING ASSUMPTIONS

by Giovanni Lombardo and David Vestin





NO 770 / JUNE 2007

# WELFARE IMPLICATIONS OF CALVO VS. ROTEMBERG PRICING ASSUMPTIONS <sup>1</sup>

by Giovanni Lombardo<sup>2</sup> and David Vestin<sup>3</sup>





This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract\_id=991610.

In 2007 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €20 banknote.

> The views expressed in this article do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Central Bank.
>  Corresponding author: European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: giovanni.lombardo@ecb.int

3 European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: david.vestin@ecb.int

#### © European Central Bank, 2007

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

**Postal address** Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

**Telephone** +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

**Telex** 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

# CONTENTS

Abstract				
Non-technical summary				
1	Introduction			
2	The model			
	2.1	Households	8	
	2.2	Firms	8	
		2.2.1 Firms and price setting under		
		Calvo pricing	9	
		2.2.2 Market clearing	9	
	2.2.3 The firms' problem under Rotember			
		price setting	10	
	2.2	Monetary policy rule	10	
3	Firs	t order approximation Phillips curves	10	
4	Welfare			
	4.1	Welfare in the Calvo model	Ш	
	4.2	Welfare in the Rotemberg model	12	
	4.3	Comparison under an efficient		
		steady-state	12	
	4.4	Comparison under an inefficient		
		steady-state	13	
		4.4.1 Numerical example	13	
5	Conclusion		14	
6	Appendix			
References				
European Central Bank Working Paper Series				

9

#### Abstract

This paper compares the welfare implications of two widely used pricing assumptions in the New-Keynesian literature: Calvo-pricing vs. Rotembergpricing. We show that despite the strong similarities between the two assumptions to a first order of approximation, in general they might entail different welfare costs at higher order of approximation. In the special case of nondistorted steady state, the two pricing assumptions imply identical welfare losses to a second order of approximation.

Keywords: Calvo price adjustment; Rotemberg price adjustment; welfare; inflation; second-order approximation.

JEL classification: E3,E5.

### Non technical summary

Most current dynamic stochastic general equilibrium (DSGE) models assume that prices (and/or wages) are sticky in nominal terms: i.e. they are not readjusted to the efficient level in each period. Under sticky prices, and in the face of exogenous shocks, there will generally be a gap between the efficient allocation of resources and the actual equilibrium allocation: e.g. too many or too few goods will be consumed and too many or too few hours will be worked. In general, it is not clear to which extent the welfare cost of price stickiness depends on the particular mechanism governing the price adjustments. In particular, the current macroeconomic literature has focused on a number of pricing mechanisms, of which the most common are Calvo price adjustments (Calvo, 1983) and Rotemberg price adjustments (Rotemberg, 1982).

This paper examines the welfare implications of these assumptions in the case when the steady state is inefficient. The main result is that the two assumptions give different results, with the tendency for Calvo to produce larger losses. As has been shown before, we confirm that in the special case when the steady state is efficient, the two assumptions produce identical results.

The mechanism proposed by Calvo assumes that each firm can re-set the price of its produce only at random intervals of time. This will make demand shift from one good to the other in a way that does not fully reflect the relative cost of production of the two goods. In other words, shocks will bring about a distribution of prices of goods that does not reflect the underlying marginal costs. Inflation, in this case, will be socially costly because it will be accompanied by an inefficient price dispersion.

The other pricing mechanism, proposed by Rotemberg, assumes that changing prices entails a real cost (e.g. in terms of goods or hours worked). In this case firms that produce at the same cost will set the same price, although this will not typically coincide with the efficient price. Shocks, therefore, will not produce an inefficient dispersion of prices. Instead, shocks will produce an additional consumption of scarce resources, which in turn will reduce social welfare.

One interesting feature of these two pricing mechanisms is that, to a first order of approximation, they yield the same set of dynamic equations: i.e. an identical Phillips curve. Most of the DSGE models that rely on these assumptions are estimated only up to the first order of approximation so that the two assumptions would be observationally equivalent.

Nevertheless, when the estimated DSGE models are used for welfare analysis (e.g. to assessing the welfare cost of alternative policies), the two pricing assumption might produce different results. So far, the literature has not shown exactly to which extent, and in which cases, the two pricing assumptions result in different welfare costs. Nisticò (2007) has shown that the two pricing assumptions imply identical welfare costs in a model with an efficient steady state (i.e. when efficiency is reached through subsidies to monopolistic firms). In this paper we show that this result holds only in that special case. In general, if the steady state is inefficient, the two pricing assumptions can yield different social costs of inflation. Whether the differences are quantitatively important will very likely depend on the other features of the model and in particular on the sources of shocks. Therefore, the results of our paper suggest that the particular pricing mechanism adopted in macroeconomic models could affect the derived policy prescriptions in important ways.

## 1 Introduction

Recently, a growing literature has dealt with the derivation of optimal policies in New-Keynesian models<sup>1</sup>. Most of this literature assumes that prices adjust at random intervals of time in a staggered fashion, following the pricing mechanism introduced by Calvo (1983) and Yun (1996). One of the alternative pricing assumptions widely discussed in the literature postulates that prices are adjusted only slowly to their optimal level in an identical way by all firms. Under this assumption, adjusting prices entails convex costs, as described by Rotemberg (1982).<sup>2</sup>

To a first order of approximation the two pricing assumptions are equivalent. Furthermore, in a recent paper, Nisticò (2007) shows that the two pricing assumptions (henceforth Calvo-pricing and Rotemberg-pricing) entail the same welfare losses when the steady state is efficient. Our paper shows that when the economy is allowed to fluctuate around an inefficient steady state, Calvo-pricing entails larger costs, for a given identical first order representation. Calvo-pricing implies a different degree of curvature of the economy than Rotemberg-pricing. By the Jensen-inequality, this implies that the expected value of the endogenous variables in the two models might differ. When the steady state of the economy is efficient, the linear term of the approximated welfare function drops out reducing the welfare measure to a function of quadratic terms only. On the contrary, when the steady state is inefficient, the linear term remains in the welfare function so that the different non-linearities are reflected in different expected levels of welfare.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. First we describe the model used in the paper. In Section 3 we derive the first order representation of the economy under the two pricing assumptions. In Section 4 we derive the welfare measures and compare the two models. A final Section concludes the paper.

### 2 The Model

We use a very simple closed-economy dynamic stochastic general equilibrium (DSGE) model. This consists of a representative household purchasing a basket of differentiated goods and supplying homogeneous labor services. The differentiated goods are supplied by monopolistically competitive firms and produced using only labor services. Uncertainty is introduced via random fluctuations in labor productivity and in the subsidies paid to the firms. We introduce the latter shock as a source of inefficient fluctuations. The model is closed by assumptions regarding the decisions of the monetary authority concerning the short-run nominal interest rate.

We briefly discuss these assumptions in turn.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See Woodford (2003) and the references cited therein.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See for example Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004).

#### 2.1 Households

There is a continuum of identical households of unit mass. The preferences of the household are modelled as time-separable CRRA functions of the consumption basket (C) and of hours (l). Money (M) is introduced only for completeness, although it does not play any role in our discussion.

The household problem can be formalized as follows:

$$\max_{C_t, M_{t+1}, B_t, l_t} E_t \sum_{t=s}^{\infty} \beta^{t-s} \left\{ \frac{(C_t)^{1-\gamma}}{1-\gamma} + \frac{1}{1-\phi} \left(\frac{M_{t+1}}{P_t}\right)^{1-\phi} - \frac{l_t^{1+\varsigma}}{1+\varsigma} \right\}$$
(1a)

subject to the constraints

$$\frac{B_t}{P_t} + C_t + \frac{M_{t+1}}{P_t} \\
= \frac{M_t}{P_t} + \frac{R_{t-1}B_{t-1}}{P_t} + \frac{W_t}{P_t}l_t + \frac{\Pi_t}{P_t} + T_t$$
(1b)

where  $B_t$  is a nominal bond in zero net supply,  $P_t$  is the aggregate price level,  $R_t$  is the short-run nominal interest rate paid on bonds,  $W_t$  is the nominal wage rate,  $\Pi_t$  is the share of profits rebated by the firms to the households and  $T_t$  is a transfer such that  $M_{t+1} - M_t = T_t$ . The first order conditions with respect to  $C_t, B_t$  and  $l_t$  are

$$C_t^{-\gamma} = \lambda_t \tag{2}$$

$$\lambda_t = R_t \beta E_t \lambda_{t+1} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} \tag{3}$$

$$W_t = \zeta_t \frac{l_t^{\varsigma}}{\lambda_t} \tag{4}$$

where  $\lambda_t$  is the Lagrange's multiplier in the household maximization problem. The consumption basket is defined as

$$C_t = \left(\int_0^1 c(i)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}} \mathrm{d}i\right)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}}$$

where c(i) denotes the specific i-th good. The associated price index is then given by

$$P_t = \left(\int_0^1 p(i)^{1-\theta} \mathrm{d}i\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$
(5)

where p(i) is the price of the i-th good.<sup>3</sup>

#### 2.2 Firms

There is a continuum of monopolistically competitive firms of unit mass. Each firm produces a differentiated good. Each firm sets prices according to either the Calvo-pricing assumption or the Rotemberg-pricing assumption. We discuss the two pricing assumptions in the following subsections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>From now on we drop the i-th index except for integrations.

#### 2.2.1 Firms and price setting under Calvo pricing

Each firm chooses the optimal price by solving the following problem

$$\max_{p_t} E_t \sum_{s=t}^{\infty} \beta^{s-t} \frac{\lambda_{s+1}}{\lambda_s} \frac{\Pi_s}{P_s} = \max_{p_t} E_t \sum_{s=t}^{\infty} \left(\xi\right)^{s-t} \bar{R}_{s,t} \left[\frac{\omega_t \, p_t}{P_s} y_s - \frac{TC_s}{P_s}\right]$$

subject to

$$y_t = (\varepsilon_t l)$$

and to

$$y_t = \left(\frac{p_t}{P_t}\right)^{-\theta} C_t.$$

where TC denotes total costs of production,  $\bar{R}_{s,t} = \beta^{s-t} \frac{\lambda_{s+1}}{\lambda_s}$  is the household nominal discount factor,  $\varepsilon_t$  is an AR(1) productivity shock and  $\omega_t$  is a stochastic subsidy to firms.

The optimal price reduces to

$$\frac{p_t}{P_t} \equiv \bar{p}_t = \mu_f \frac{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_{1,t}}{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{2,t}}$$

where

$$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{1,t}^{t} = mc_{t}C_{s} + \xi E_{t}\overline{R}_{t+1,t} \left(\pi_{t+1}\right)^{\theta} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{1,t+1}^{t}$$

and

$$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{2,t}^{t} = \omega_t C_t + \xi E_t \overline{R}_{t+1,t} \left( \pi_{t+1} \right)^{(\theta-1)} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{2,t+1}^{t}$$

where  $mc_t$  is the real marginal cost and  $\pi_t \equiv \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}}$ .

#### 2.2.2 Market clearing

Total demand for goods and labour must be equal to total supply of goods and labour, respectively. Bonds are in zero net supply.

#### Aggregate output.

$$\int_0^1 y(z)_t dz = C_t \int_0^1 \left(\bar{p}(z)_t\right)^{-\theta} dz = P_t^* C_t$$

where

$$P_t^{\star} = (1 - \xi) \,\bar{p}_t^{-\theta} + \xi \,(\pi_t)^{\theta} \,P_{t-1}^{\star} \tag{6}$$

is the price dispersion measure

#### Aggregate labor.

$$l_t = \int_0^1 l(z)_t dz = \frac{mc_t}{W_t} \int_0^1 y(z)_t dz$$
(7)

Therefore the equilibrium wage can be written as

$$W_t = \frac{\zeta_t l_t^{\varsigma}}{\lambda_t^c}$$



**Inflation.** Noticing that in period t a fraction  $(1 - \xi)$  of firms sets the price  $p_t$  while a fraction  $\xi$  on average sets the price  $P_{t-1}$ , equation (5) gives

$$1 = \left[ (1 - \xi) \left(\bar{p}_t\right)^{1-\theta} + \xi \left(\frac{1}{\pi_t}\right)^{1-\theta} \right]$$
(8)

#### 2.2.3 The Firms' problem under Rotemberg price setting

The firms' problem can now be formalized as follows:

$$\max_{p_t} E_t \sum_{s=t}^{\infty} \left(\beta\right)^{s-t} \bar{R}_{s,t} \left(\frac{\omega_t \, p_t}{P_t} y_t - TC_t - \frac{\phi}{2} \left(\frac{p_t}{p_{t-1}} - 1\right)^2 C_t\right)$$

subject to

$$y_t = \varepsilon_t l.$$

and to

$$y_t = \left(\frac{p_t}{P_t}\right)^{-\theta} C_t$$

After noting that all firms set the same price, so that  $p_t = P_t$  the first order condition is

$$0 = (1 - \theta) \omega_t y + \theta m c_t y - \phi (\pi_t - 1) C_t \pi_t + E_t \beta \frac{\lambda_{t+1}^c}{\lambda_t^c} \phi (\pi_{t+1} - 1) (\pi_{t+1}) C_{t+1}$$

symmetry also implies that

$$y = Y_t = C_t + \frac{\phi}{2} \left(\pi_t - 1\right)^2 C_t$$
(9)

Finally we can rewrite

$$\phi(\pi_t - 1) Y_t \pi_t + (\theta - 1) \omega_t Y_t = \theta m c_t Y_t + E_t \beta \frac{\lambda_{t+1}^c}{\lambda_t^c} \phi(\pi_{t+1} - 1) (\pi_{t+1}) Y_{t+1}$$

#### 2.3 Monetary policy rule

The model can be closed by assumptions concerning the the monetary policy. In the numerical example we will consider the following policy rule:

$$R_t = \lambda_\pi \left(\frac{\pi_t}{\pi} - 1\right)$$

## 3 First order approximation Phillips curves

To a first order of approximation, Calvo-pricing yields the following Phillips curve:

$$\widetilde{\pi}_{t} = \frac{\left(1 - \xi\beta\right)\left(1 - \xi\right)}{\xi}\widetilde{mc}_{t} - \frac{\left(1 - \xi\beta\right)\left(1 - \xi\right)}{\xi}\widetilde{\omega}_{t} + E_{t}\beta\widetilde{\pi}_{t+1}$$
(10)

Under Rotemberg-pricing to a first order of approximation the Phillips curve reduces to

$$\widetilde{\pi}_t = \frac{\omega \left(\theta - 1\right)}{\phi} \widetilde{mc}_t + \frac{\omega \left(\theta - 1\right)}{\phi} \widetilde{\omega}_t + E_t \beta \widetilde{\pi}_{t+1}$$
(11)

where  $\tilde{x} = \frac{x_t - x}{x}$  and where a variable without subscript denotes its steady-state value.

Therefor the two models are identical up to the coefficient on the marginal cost and on the cost-push shock.

Imposing that  $\phi = \frac{\omega(\theta-1)\xi}{(1-\xi)(1-\xi\beta)}$  yields the same first-order dynamics in both models.

# 4 Welfare

Although the two models can be reduced to the same first-order representation, the welfare implications might differ. The following section derives the welfare function under the two specifications. Notice that from here on we denote  $\hat{x}_t = x_t - x$ .

#### 4.1 Welfare in the Calvo model

Under Calvo pricing the aggregate welfare function, conditional on information held by the policy maker at time  $t_0$ , takes the following form

$$V_{t_0} = E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \mathcal{W}_t \tag{12}$$

where

$$\mathcal{W}_t \equiv \left\{ \frac{C_t^{1-\gamma}}{1-\gamma} - \frac{l_t^{1+\varsigma}}{1+\varsigma} \right\}$$
(13)

A second order Taylor approximation of the welfare function yields

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_t = C^{-\gamma} \widehat{C}_t - l^{\varsigma} \widehat{l}_t - C^{-\gamma - 1} \frac{1}{2} \gamma \widehat{C}_t^2 - l^{\varsigma - 1} \frac{1}{2} \varsigma \widehat{l}_t^2 + t.i.p. + \mathcal{O}\left( \|\nu_t\|^3 \right)$$
(14)

where  $\nu_t$  is a vector containing the exogenous stochastic variables and where *t.i.p.* collects the terms independent of policy (here first and second moments of the preference shock).

Noting that aggregate labor, adjusted for productivity, is identical to aggregate output we have that (henceforth omitting the error term for simplicity)

$$\widehat{l}_t + l\widehat{\varepsilon}_t + \widehat{l}_t\widehat{\varepsilon}_t = \frac{\omega(\theta - 1)}{\theta} \left( C\widehat{P}_t^\star + \widehat{C}_t \right)$$
(15)

where we have taken into account the fact (shown in Appendix) that  $P_t^{\star}$  is constant at its steady-state value when computed to a first order of approximation, so that the cross-product term does not appear in the expansion.

Combining equation (14) with equation (15) we obtain

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{t}^{\text{Calvo}} = \left(C^{-\gamma} - l^{\varsigma} \frac{\omega(\theta - 1)}{\theta}\right) \widehat{C}_{t} + \frac{1}{2} C^{-\gamma - 1} \gamma \widehat{C}_{t}^{2} - l^{\varsigma - 1} \frac{1}{2} \varsigma \widehat{l}_{t}^{2} + l^{\varsigma} \widehat{\varepsilon}_{t} \widehat{l}_{t} - C \, l^{\varsigma} \frac{\omega(\theta - 1)}{\theta} \widehat{P}_{t}^{\star} + t.i.p.$$
(16)

#### 4.2 Welfare in the Rotemberg model

Under Rotemberg-pricing, equation (14) remain unchanged. What varies is equation (15). A second order expansion of equation (9) yields

$$\widehat{l}_t + l\widehat{\varepsilon}_t + \widehat{l}_t\widehat{\varepsilon}_t = \frac{\omega(\theta - 1)}{\theta} \left(\widehat{C}_t + C\frac{\phi}{2}\widehat{\pi}_t^2\right)$$
(17)

By replacing this equation into equation (14) we obtain

$$\widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{t}^{\text{Rotemberg}} = \left(C^{-\gamma} - l^{\varsigma} \frac{\omega(\theta - 1)}{\theta}\right) \widehat{C}_{t} + \frac{1}{2} C^{-\gamma - 1} \gamma \widehat{C}_{t}^{2} - l^{\varsigma - 1} \frac{1}{2} \varsigma \widehat{l}_{t}^{2} + l^{\varsigma} \widehat{\varepsilon}_{t} \widehat{l}_{t} - C \, l^{\varsigma} \, \frac{\phi}{2} \frac{\omega(\theta - 1)}{\theta} \widehat{\pi}_{t}^{2} + t.i.p.$$
(18)

#### 4.3 Comparison under an efficient steady-state

We have seen that the two models are identical to a first order of approximation. Under the assumption  $\frac{\omega(\theta-1)}{\theta} = 1$  we have that C = l = 1 so that the difference between the two measure of welfare just derived reduces to

$$\Delta^{W} \equiv \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{t}^{\text{Calvo}} - \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{t}^{\text{Rotemberg}} = \frac{\phi}{2}\widehat{\pi}_{t}^{2} - \widehat{P}_{t}^{\star}$$
(19)

where, as shown in the Appendix

$$\widehat{P}_t^{\star} = \xi \widehat{P}_{t-1}^{\star} + 1/2 \, \frac{\theta \,\xi}{1-\xi} \widehat{\pi}_t^2 \tag{20}$$

From a conditional welfare perspective have that

$$E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \widehat{P}_t^{\star} = \frac{\xi}{1-\xi\beta} \widehat{P}_{t_0-1}^{\star} + E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^t 1/2 \frac{\theta\xi}{(1-\xi)(1-\beta\xi)} \widehat{\pi}_t^2 \qquad (21)$$

so that

$$E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \Delta^W = \frac{\xi}{1-\xi\beta} \widehat{P}_{t_0-1}^{\star} + E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \frac{\phi}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{\theta}{\omega(\theta-1)} \right) \widehat{\pi}_t^2$$
(22)

where we have used the fact that, under the current assumptions,  $\phi = \frac{\omega(\theta-1)\xi}{(1-\xi)(1-\xi\beta)}$ . Since we have assumed that  $\omega = \frac{\theta}{\theta-1}$  we can conclude that, the two pricing assumption yield identical welfare levels, conditional on  $\hat{P}_{t_0-1}^{\star} = 0$ .

Notice that, from an unconditional-welfare perspective the last term in parenthesis in equation (22) would be

$$\left(1 - \frac{(1 - \xi\beta)}{(1 - \xi)}\right) < 0. \tag{23}$$

Therefore, using an unconditional perspective, Calvo-pricing would result in larger welfare losses than Rotemberg-pricing.

#### 4.4 Comparison under an inefficient steady-state

In the absence of subsidies to firms, i.e. if  $\omega = 1$ , equation (22) becomes

$$E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \Delta^W = \frac{C \, l^{\varsigma} \theta \xi}{(\theta - 1)(1 - \xi \beta)} \widehat{P}_{t_0 - 1}^{\star} + l^{\varsigma} \left( 1 - \frac{(\theta - 1)}{\theta} \right) E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \left( \widehat{C}_t^{\text{Calvo}} - \widehat{C}_t^{\text{Rotemberg}} \right) \\ - C \, \frac{\phi}{2} l^{\varsigma} \left( 1 - \frac{(\theta - 1)}{\theta} \right) E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \widehat{\pi}_t^2$$

$$(24)$$

This expression shows that the two pricing assumptions would produce the same level of welfare if and only if

$$\frac{\left(\widehat{C}_t^{\text{Calvo}} - \widehat{C}_t^{\text{Rotemberg}}\right)}{C} = \frac{\phi}{2}\pi_t^2 \tag{25}$$

In the next section we solve the model numerically to show that condition (25) does not hold in general.

#### 4.4.1 Numerical example

Solving for the welfare gap analytically would be too cumbersome. In this subsection we provide instead a numerical example of the welfare gap when the steady state is inefficient.

For this purpose we provide two measures. The first is the conditional welfare gap while the second is the unconditional welfare gap. For this exercise we assumed  $\beta = 0.99$ ,  $\theta = 6$ ,  $\gamma = 2$ ,  $\zeta = 2$ ,  $\xi = 0.5$ . As for the policy rule, we assume that the policy rate reacts only to current inflation with a coefficient of 1.5. We consider two shocks separately: a productivity shock and a shock to the subsidy to firms. These two shocks are intended to represent efficient shocks (no inflation-output trade off is produced) and inefficient shocks (an inflation-output trade-off is produced), respectively. Both shocks are assumed to be AR(1) with an auto-correlation coefficient of 0.9 and a standard deviation of 1. The results are presented in Table 1.<sup>4</sup> The values are expressed in welfare units.

Table 1: Welfare Gap

	Productivity	Subsidy
$E_{t_0} \sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty} \beta^{t-t_0} \Delta^W =$	-20.86	-5.22
$E\sum_{t=t_0}^{\infty}\beta^{t-t_0}\Delta^W =$	-22.51	-5.66

Looking more in details at the sources of these gaps we can see that expected consumption under Calvo-pricing is lower than expected consumption under Rotemberg-pricing. This consumption gap adds to the larger infefficiency wedge produced by inflation.

### 5 Conclusion

This paper has shown that two widespread assumptions in the current New-Keynesian literature concerning price adjustments can entail different welfare losses when the deterministic steady state of the economy is inefficient. The Calvo-pricing assumption implies a different curvature of the economy than the Rotemberg-pricing assumption. By Jensen-inequality, this implies that the expected value of the endogenous variables would, in general, differ across the two pricing mechanisms. Consequently, welfare is different across the two pricing assumptions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The results are obtained with DYNARE (version 4). The conditional mean is obtained iterating on the first- and second-order accurate state-space solution produced by DYNARE.

# Appendix

# 6 Proof that $\widehat{P}^{\star} = 0 + \mathcal{O}\left(\|\nu\|^2\right)$

A second order expansion of (6) yields

$$\widehat{P}_{t}^{\star} = \xi \widehat{P}_{t-1}^{\star} + \theta \left(\xi \widehat{\pi}_{t} - (1-\xi) \left(\widehat{p}_{t}\right)\right)$$

$$+ (1-\xi) \left(\frac{1}{2}\theta(\theta+1)\widehat{p}_{t}^{2}\right) + \xi \left(\frac{1}{2}\theta(\theta-1)\widehat{\pi}_{t}^{2} + \theta\widehat{\pi}_{t}\widehat{P}_{t-1}^{\star}\right)$$

$$(26)$$

while a second order approximation of (8) produces

$$0 = \left[ (1-\xi) \left( (1-\theta)\widehat{p}_t - \frac{1}{2}(1-\theta)\theta\widehat{p}_t^2 \right) + \xi \left( (\theta-1)\widehat{\pi}_t + (\theta-1)(\theta-2)\widehat{\pi}_t^2 \right) \right].$$

or

$$\xi\left(\widehat{\pi}_{t}\right) - \left(1 - \xi\right)\left(\widehat{\overline{p}}_{t}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\left(\left(1 - \xi\right)\theta\left(-\widehat{\overline{p}}_{t}^{2}\right) - \xi(\theta - 2)\left(\widehat{\pi}_{t}^{2}\right)\right).$$
(27)

By combining (26) with (27) we see that to a second order of approximation  $\hat{P}_t^{\star}$  depends only on quadratic terms. Therefore, to a first order of approximation  $\hat{P}_t^{\star} = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\|\nu\|^2)$ . In particular by replacing the last expression into (26) and noting that

$$\left(\widehat{\bar{p}}_t\right)^2 = \left(\frac{\xi}{(1-\xi)}\right)^2 \left(\widehat{\pi}_t\right)^2$$

we obtain

$$\widehat{P}_{t}^{\star} = \xi \widehat{P}_{t-1}^{\star} - \theta \frac{1}{2} \left( (1-\xi)\theta \left( \frac{\xi}{(1-\xi)} \right)^{2} (\widehat{\pi}_{t})^{2} + \xi(\theta-2) \left( \widehat{\pi}_{t}^{2} \right) \right)$$

$$+ (1-\xi) \left( \frac{1}{2}\theta(\theta+1) \left( \frac{\xi}{(1-\xi)} \right)^{2} (\widehat{\pi}_{t})^{2} \right) + \xi \left( \frac{1}{2}\theta(\theta-1)\widehat{\pi}_{t}^{2} + \theta \widehat{\pi}_{t}\widehat{P}_{t-1}^{\star} \right)$$
(28)

which reduces to

$$\widehat{P}_t^{\star} = \xi \widehat{P}_{t-1}^{\star} + 1/2 \,\frac{\theta\,\xi}{1-\xi} \widehat{\pi}_t^2 \tag{29}$$

# References

- Calvo, G. A. (1983). Staggered Prices in a Utility-Maximizing Framework. Journal of Monetary Economics, 12:383–98.
- Nisticò, S. (2007). The Welfare Loss from Unstable Inflation. *Economics Letters*, (forthcoming).

Working Paper Series No 770 June 2007

- Rotemberg, J. J. (1982). Monopolisitic Price Adjustment and Aggregate Output. Review of Economic Studies, 49:517–531.
- Schmitt-Grohé, S. and Uribe, M. (2004). Optimal Fiscal and Monetary Policy under Sticky Prices. Journal of Economic Theory, 114:198–203.
- Woodford, M. (2003). Interest and Prices: Foundations of a Theory of Monetary Policy. Princeton U.P.
- Yun, T. (1996). Nominal price rigidity, money supply endogeneity and business cycles. Journal of Monetary Economics, 37:345–370.

#### **European Central Bank Working Paper Series**

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 737 "Structural balances and revenue windfalls: the role of asset prices revisited" by R. Morris and L. Schuknecht, March 2007.
- 738 "Commodity prices, money and inflation" by F. Browne and D. Cronin, March 2007.
- 739 "Exchange rate pass-through in emerging markets" by M. Ca' Zorzi, E. Hahn and M. Sánchez, March 2007.
- 740 "Transition economy convergence in a two-country model: implications for monetary integration" by J. Brůha and J. Podpiera, March 2007.
- 741 "Sectoral money demand models for the euro area based on a common set of determinants" by J. von Landesberger, March 2007.
- 742 "The Eurosystem, the US Federal Reserve and the Bank of Japan: similarities and differences" by D. Gerdesmeier, F. P. Mongelli and B. Roffia, March 2007.
- 743 "Credit market and macroeconomic volatility" by C. Mendicino, March 2007.
- 'International financial linkages of Latin American banks: the effects of political risk and deposit dollarisation' by F. Ramon-Ballester and T.Wezel, March 2007.
- 745 "Market discipline, financial integration and fiscal rules: what drives spreads in the euro area government bond market?" by S. Manganelli and G. Wolswijk, April 2007.
- 746 "U.S. evolving macroeconomic dynamics: a structural investigation" by L. Benati and H. Mumtaz, April 2007.
- 747 "Tax reform and labour-market performance in the euro area: a simulation-based analysis using the New Area-Wide Model" by G. Coenen, P. McAdam and R. Straub, April 2007.
- 748 "Financial dollarization: the role of banks and interest rates" by H. S. Basso, O. Calvo-Gonzalez and M. Jurgilas, May 2007.
- 749 "Excess money growth and inflation dynamics" by B. Roffia and A. Zaghini, May 2007.
- 750 "Long run macroeconomic relations in the global economy" by S. Dees, S. Holly, M. H. Pesaran and L.V. Smith, May 2007.
- 751 "A look into the factor model black box: publication lags and the role of hard and soft data in forecasting GDP" by M. Bańbura and G. Rünstler, May 2007.
- 752 "Econometric analyses with backdated data: unified Germany and the euro area" by E.Angelini and M. Marcellino, May 2007.
- 753 "Trade credit defaults and liquidity provision by firms" by F. Boissay and R. Gropp, May 2007.

- 754 "Euro area inflation persistence in an estimated nonlinear DSGE model" by G.Amisano and O.Tristani, May 2007.
- 755 "Durable goods and their effect on household saving ratios in the euro area" by J. Jalava and I. K. Kavonius, May 2007.
- 756 "Maintaining low inflation: money, interest rates, and policy stance" by S. Reynard, May 2007.
- 757 "The cyclicality of consumption, wages and employment of the public sector in the euro area" by A. Lamo, J. J. Pérez and L. Schuknecht, May 2007.
- 758 "Red tape and delayed entry" by A. Ciccone and E. Papaioannou, June 2007.
- 759 "Linear-quadratic approximation, external habit and targeting rules" by P. Levine, J. Pearlman and R. Pierse, June 2007.
- 760 "Modelling intra- and extra-area trade substitution and exchange rate pass-through in the euro area" by A. Dieppe and T. Warmedinger, June 2007.
- 761 "External imbalances and the US current account: how supply-side changes affect an exchange rate adjustment" by P. Engler, M. Fidora and C. Thimann, June 2007.
- 762 "Patterns of current account adjustment: insights from past experience" by B.Algieri and T. Bracke, June 2007.
- 763 "Short- and long-run tax elasticities: the case of the Netherlands" by G.Wolswijk, June 2007.
- 764 "Robust monetary policy with imperfect knowledge" by A. Orphanides and J. C. Williams, June 2007.
- 765 "Sequential optimization, front-loaded information, and U.S. consumption" by A.Willman, June 2007.
- 766 "How and when do markets tip? Lessons from the Battle of the Bund" by E. Cantillon and P.-L.Yin, June 2007.
- 767 "Explaining monetary policy in press conferences" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, June 2007.
- 768 "A new approach to measuring competition in the loan markets of the euro area" by M. van Leuvensteijn, J.A. Bikker, A. van Rixtel and C. Kok Sørensen, June 2007.
- 769 "The 'Great Moderation' in the United Kingdom" by L. Benati, June 2007.
- 770 "Welfare implications of Calvo vs. Rotemberg pricing assumptions" by G. Lombardo and D. Vestin, June 2007.

